73893-3

FILED
Jun 13, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73893-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner,

٧.

BRUCE M. SNYDER GREGG B. SNYDER

Respondents.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: HALEY W. SEBENS, WSBA#43320 Deputy Prosecutor

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 (360) 336-9460

INTRODUCTION

The Respondents were charged and found guilty of unlawful hunting in the second degree following a bench trial in district court. The Respondents claimed the affirmative defense of tribal treaty rights contending they are members of the modern-day group Snoqualmoo Tribe. The Snoqualmoo Tribe is not recognized as an Indian tribe by the federal government, and no court has recognized the group to be political successor in interest to an Indian tribe that signed the Treaty of Point Elliott.

Cases involving treaty Indian hunting rights may address a variety of issues, such as the geographic scope of where a hunting right can be exercised. See e.g. State v. Buchanan, 138 Wn.2d 186, 200, 978 P.2d 1070 (1998). But whenever a treaty right is raised as an affirmative defense to a hunting crime, the validity of the defense depends on the legal and factual conclusion that the defendant belongs to a tribe and that the defendant's tribe is the continually-existing political entity that secured treaty rights in 1855. E.g. State v. Posenjak, 127 Wn.App. 41, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005) (holding that the defendant did not show that the modern day Snoqualmoo had treaty rights).

The sole evidence presented at trial in Skagit County District Court of political continuity between the modern group and a historic Indian tribe merely showed that some members of the modern Snoqualmoo claim ancestors who signed the treaties, but the record did not show how the modern day Snoqualmoo maintained continual political existence from the tribe at treaty times into the present day tribe. The RALJ court reversed the district court's rejection of the affirmative defense. The RALJ court relied on minimal evidence such as anecdotal descriptions of modern day farming of a potato that hearsay dates to treaty-times. This falls short of the evidence required by the federal courts to recognize a group as holding Indian The RALJ court's legal error was to treaty hunting rights. misapprehend the standard for proving that the modern Snoqualmoo are the continually existing political successor in interest to a political entity that contracted with the United States with the Treaty of Point Elliott of 1855. This court must reverse the superior court's decision finding that the district court erred.

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error: The superior court erred by reversing the trial court conviction based on its conclusion that the defendants

could invoke rights secured to Indian Tribes in 1855 under the Treaty of Point Elliott.

Issues Presented:

- The Superior Court erred in failing to provide deference to the District Court as the fact finder by finding the Snoqualmoo Tribe to be a successor in interest to the Treaty of Point Elliot.
- 2. The Superior Court erred in finding that the respondents had proven by a preponderance of the evidence the affirmative defense of treaty hunting rights where the evidence fell short of the standard of proof for the recognition of tribal treaty rights.
- 3. The Superior Court erred in allowing litigation over the establishment of treaty rights to occur for the first time in a District Court criminal forum, and where the tribe was not a party to the proceeding.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents, Gregg and Bruce Snyder were charged with two counts of unlawful hunting of big game in the second degree pursuant to RCW 77.15.410. The facts surrounding the death of the elk were not disputed at trial. Bruce and Gregg Snyder, after killing

an elk out of season produced what they claimed to be Snoqualmoo Tribe hunting licenses and asserted a treaty right. Trial Transcript, Part I, at 8, lines 6-12; CP at 63. On December 6, 2012, the pending cases were consolidated and the Honorable Judge Gilbert presided over the bench trial in Skagit County District Court. Defendants asserted the affirmative defense of tribal treaty rights, as members of a group that self-identifies as the Snoqualmoo Indian Tribe. Following testimony and closing argument, the court found defendant Gregg Snyder guilty of two counts of unlawful hunting of big game in the 2nd degree, and defendant Bruce Snyder, guilty of one count of unlawful hunting of big game in the 2nd degree.

The verdict of the district court included the following oral findings: The district court is not the appropriate court to weigh the appropriateness of tribal recognition or treaty right issues. The district court had jurisdiction to hear the criminal case as charged pursuant to RCW 77.15.410. Only a tribe can exercise treaty rights. Adjudication of a tribe's treaty rights occurs in federal court, and that two individual defendants cannot raise treaty rights as individuals independent of a tribe. A tribe must have an established tribal status, as one of the nine tribes that have treaty rights as set forth in *U.S. v. Washington I and II.* The Snoqualmoo Tribe is not an established treaty tribe. Trial

Transcript, Part II, at 17, lines 13-26, through page 18, lines 1-12.

Respondents appealed to superior court, asserting error in both the district court's denial of the motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, and failure to grant the affirmative defense of tribal treaty hunting rights. The consolidated appeal was heard in May of 2015. The superior court reversed the trial court's findings. The superior court's ruling included findings that the defendant's group Snoqualmoo Tribe is legally entitled to exercise treaty rights vested in the Treaty of Point Elliott, concluding that the defendants proved an ongoing and continuous characteristic of the original Snogualmoo Tribe. Order on RALJ Appeal, Bruce Snyder and Gregg Snyder v. State of Washington, 12-1-01143-4 (2012) (Docket No. 22), Findings ¶ 2, 4, 5, and 7. ("Order on RALJ Appeal"). Judge Needy found that the lower court abused its discretion in denying the affirmative defense of tribal hunting privileges, and dismissed the criminal charges. The State filed a motion for discretionary review, which the Court of Appeals granted on March 24, 2016. This timely appeal follows.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

RALJ 9.1 governs appellate review by a superior court of a decision of a district court. *State v. Ford*, 110 Wn.2d 827, 829–830,

755 P.2d 806 (1988); State v. Brokman, 84 Wn. App. 848, 850, 930 P.2d 354 (1997). A superior court reviews the lower court ruling to determine if there are any errors of law and "shall accept those factual determinations supported by substantial evidence in the record" that are expressly made or reasonably inferred. RALJ 9.1(a) and (b). The superior court does not consider the evidence de novo. State v. Basson, 105 Wn.2d 314, 317, 714 P.2d 1188 (1986). "These rules likewise apply to appellate courts that grant discretionary review of a superior court's RALJ decision." State v. Weber, 159 Wash. App. 779, 785-86, 247 P.3d 782, 785-86 (2011) (citing Ford, 110 Wn.2d at 829). "Appellate courts also will treat mislabeled findings or conclusions in accord with what they actually are." Id. (citing Willener v. Sweeting, 107 Wn.2d 388, 394, 730 P.2d 45 (1986)). Therefore, to address the Snyders' claim that Snoqualmoo has treaty rights, this Court may address the legal issue of whether there is a sufficient showing of tribal treaty rights de novo and otherwise defer to the trial court's view of the relevant evidence.

IV. ARGUMENT

When charged criminally with unlawful hunting of big game, an affirmative defense of Indian tribal treaty rights may preempt the application of state law if proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

See State v. Petit, 88 Wn.2d 267, 269, 558 P.2d 796 (1977); State v. Moses, 79 Wn.2d 104, 110, 483 P.2d 832 (1971). When a defendant is accused of violating the State hunting laws and claims a treaty exemption, he has the burden of persuasion and proof that a treaty exists, that he is a beneficiary of it, and that the treaty as a matter of law bars as to him the operation and enforcement of the State regulations. State v. Courville, 36 Wn. App. 615, 622, 676 P.2d 1011 (Div. 1, 1983) (citing State v. Moses, 79 Wn.2d 104, 110, 483 P.2d 832 (1971), cert. denied 406 U.S. 910, L.Ed. 2d 822, 92 S. Ct. 1612 (1972)).

The Respondents associate themselves with the modern-day group called Snoqualmoo. Because the group of Snoqualmoo Indians are not currently recognized by either the state or federal government to have treaty rights, the defendants attempted to establish, for the first time and in district court, this contractual relationship with the federal government. The trial court ruled that the affirmative defense was not proven by a preponderance of the evidence because Snoqualmoo was not a treaty tribe. On RALJ appeal, superior court reversed and remanded, finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the affirmative defense. Consequently, the superior court's decision allowed, for the first time,

an Indian group to establish treaty rights in a District Court criminal adjudication; the decision created a contractual relationship between the Snoqualmoo Indians and the federal government, one never before recognized and one the superior court does not have authority to establish; finally, the superior court misapplied the standard required for proving a contractual relationship between a tribe and the government.

A. REVIEW OF CURRENT OFF-RESERVATION INDIAN TREATY FISHING AND HUNTING RIGHTS IN THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST SHOWS THAT THE SNOQUALMOO TRIBE IS NOT A TREATY TRIBE OR SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO A TREATY TRIBE

The Treaty of Point Elliott was created in January 1855 and ratified March 8, 1859. The first article of the treaty includes a description of lands ceded to the United States by the Indians. The treaty provides, in article I, that the "said tribes and bands of Indians hereby cede, relinquish, and convey to the United States all their right, title and interest in and to the lands and country occupied by them, bounded and described as follows: Commencing at the inlets and bays of western Washington territory to the summit of the Cascade range of mountains." Treaty of Point Elliott at 927. Article 5 of the treaty provides:

The right of taking fish at usual and accustomed grounds and stations is further secured to said Indians in common with all citizens of the Territory, and of erecting temporary houses for the purpose of curing, together with the privilege of hunting and gathering roots and berries on open and unclaimed lands. Provided, however, that they shall not take shell-fish from any beds staked or cultivated by citizens.

Treaty of Point Elliott at 928. This paragraph is substantially the same in all of the Stevens' Treaties, and its language has been the subject of extensive litigation in both state and federal court over the last century. See State v. Buchanan, 138 Wn.2d 186, 200, 978 P.2d 1070 (1998) (referencing the historical litigation of the Stevens' Treaties); United States v. Washington, 384 F.Supp. 312, 334 (W.D. Wash. 1974) affm'd 520 F.2d 676 (9th Cir. 1975) ("Wash I"), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1086, 47 L.Ed. 2d 97, 96 S. Ct. 877 (1976) (detailing the historical background of the treaties in the Pacific Northwest).

1. <u>Snoqualmoo Tribe is not an established treaty tribe in Washington</u>

Today, it is generally well known which modern-day tribes in Washington have treaty rights. Through federal litigation and adjudication with the federal government, several of Washington's Indian tribes exercise treaty rights. *United States v. Washington*, 384 F. Supp. 312, 359 (W.D. Wash. 1974) (*Washington I*) (recognizing:

the Hoh, Quileute, and Quinault treaty rights as set forth by the Treaty of Olympia; the Lummi, Sauk-Suiattle, Upper Skagit, and Stillaguamish as set forth by the Point Elliott Treaty, Makah as set forth in the Neah Bay Treaty; the Muckleshoot as set forth in the Medicine Creek and Point Elliott Treaties; the Nisqually, Puyallup, and Squaxin Island as set forth in the Medicine Creek Treaty; the Skokomish as set forth in the Point No Point Treaty; and the Yakama treaty rights as set forth in the Yakama Treaty); United States v. Washington, 459 F. Supp. 1020, 1039-40 (W.D. Wash. 1975) (Washington II) (recognizing treaty rights of the Lower Elwha Klallam and Port Gamble 'Klallam as set forth in the Point No Point Treaty; the Nooksak, Suquamish, Swinomish, and Tulalip set forth in the Point Elliott Treaty); United States v. Washington, 626 F. Supp. 1405, 1486 (W.D. Wash. 1984) (recognizing the Jamestown S'Klallam treaty rights granted in the Point No Point Treaty).

Additionally, there are federally recognized tribes that do not have treaty benefits, and are categorized as non-treaty tribes. See Confederated Tribes of Chehalis Indian Reservation v. Washington, 96 F.3d 334, 340-41 (9th Cir. 1996) (Chehalis and Shoalwater Bay tribes); United States v. Oregon, 29 F.3d 481 (9th Cir. 1994) (recognizing some off reservation rights for the Colville Tribe in the

Colville Reservation per *Antoine v. Washington*, 420 U.S. 194 (1975) and in part of Lake Roosevelt per 16 U.S.C. § 835d); *United States v. Pend Oreille Pub. Util. Dist.*, 926 F.2d 1502, 1508 n.6 (9th Cir. 1991) (Kalispel Tribe); *United States v. Washington*, 641 F.2d 1368 (9th Cir. 1981) (Samish and Snoqualmie Tribes); *Spokane Tribe of Indians v. United States*, 163 Ct. Cl. 58 (1963) (recognizing the Spokane Tribe's off-reservation rights in part of Lake Roosevelt per 16 U.S.C. § 835d). Also existing within the state boundaries are non-treaty organizations of persons with Indian ancestry. *Wahkiakum Band of Chinook Indians v. Bateman*, 655 F.2d 176 (9th Cir. 1981) (rejecting Chinook claims); *Washington*, 641 F.2d 1368 (rejecting treaty claims by Samish, Duwamish, Snoqualmie, Steilacoom, and Snohomish tribes).

2. Establishment of a treaty tribe depends on a showing that the tribal organization is the continually existing political successor to a treaty tribe.

Treaty-tribe status and the right to exercise federally protected Indian treaty hunting or fishing right is established when "a group of citizens of Indian ancestry is descended from a treaty signatory and has maintained an organized tribal structure." *United States v. Suquamish Indian Tribe*, 901 F.2d 772, 775 (9th Cir. 1990) (citing *United States v. Washington (Washington I)*, 520 F.2d 693 (9th Cir. 1975). The Snyders bear the burden of demonstrating that their

putative treaty tribe – the modern Snoqualmoo—are the continually existing political community that is the legal successor to a treaty tribe. *Id.*, *Suguamish Indian Tribe*, 901 F.2d at 775 (9th Cir. 1990).

a. Stringent proof requirements apply if any party claims that a modern entity is a successor to treaty rights of a tribe that signed the treaty.

The leading case that sets up the standards for proving that a modern group holds treaty rights of a signatory to the Stevens Treaties is United States v. Washington (Washington II), 641 F.2d 1368 (9th Cir. 1981). A modern-day group can call itself a tribe and include descendants of treaty-signatory tribes, but those facts are insufficient as a matter of law to establishing treaty-tribe status. Id. at 1370–71; United States v. Suguamish, 901 F.2d at 776. To have the legal rights of a treaty-signatory, a party must show that the contemporary group—in this case the Snoqualmoo organization to which the Snyders' belong—has "treaty tribe status." nutshell, that requires the Snyders to show that their group not only has some Indian ancestry and they are descendents of a treaty signatory but also that the "necessary and sufficient condition for the exercise of treaty rights by a group of Indians descended from a treaty signatory: the group must have maintained an organized tribal structure." 641 F.2d at 1372, citing *Washington I*, 520 F.2d at 693. The Ninth Circuit explained that:

the sole purpose of requiring proof of tribal status is to identify the group asserting treaty rights as the group named in the treaty. For this purpose, tribal status is preserved if some defining characteristic of the original tribe persists in an evolving tribal community.

Id., 641 F.2 at 1372-73 (emphasis added). 1

The corollary of the rule that treaty rights belong to the treaty-time tribal community is that those rights will cease to exist if the people of a tribe assimilate into the general public and there is "abandonment of distinct Indian communities." *Washington* II, 641 F.2d at 1173.

When assimilation is complete, those of the group purporting to be the tribe cannot claim tribal rights. While it might be said that the result is unjust if the tribe has suffered from federal or state discrimination, it is required by the communal nature of tribal rights. To warrant special treatment, tribes *must survive as distinct communities*. See, e. g., *United States v. Antelope*, 430 U.S. 641, 646, 97 S.Ct. 1395, 1398, 51 L.Ed.2d 701 (1977); *United States v. Mazurie*, 419 U.S. 544, 557, 95 S.Ct. 710, 717, 42 L.Ed.2d 706 (1975).

¹ The Ninth Circuit was careful to avoid suggesting that a tribe must proof the existence of a structure that did not even exist at treaty time because "a structure that never existed cannot be 'maintained.'" *Id.* But the Court is clear that original tribe itself must be maintained even as it adapts to changing federal policies. See also United States v. Oregon, 29 F.3d 481, 484 (9th Cir.), amended, 43 F.3d 1284 (9th Cir. 1994) ("The group seeking to exercise treaty rights must show that it has maintained an 'organized tribal structure,' which in turn can be shown by establishing that "some defining characteristic of the original tribe persists in an evolving tribal community." Id. at 1372-73.

Id. (emphasis added).

These touchstones of claiming treaty-tribe status arose in the Ninth Circuit case that affirmed Judge Boldt's finding and conclusion that five modern-day tribes "had not functioned since treaty times as 'continuous separate, distinct and cohesive Indian cultural or political communit(ies)." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Washington*, 476 F.Supp. 1101, 1105, 1106, 1107, 1109, 1110). These five tribes were the Duwamish, Samish, Snohomish, Snoqualmie and Steilacoom. The modern-day entity was not "a *political continuation of or political successor in interest*" to the tribes or bands who entered the treaties. 476 F. Supp. at 1104 (emphasis added). Those rulings are squarely on point for holding that the Snyders' claim about Snoqualmoo is insufficient as a matter of law.

b. Comparable cases applying the test for treaty-tribe status illustrate how the Snyders' defense fell short of satisfying this high burden.

Before examining how the evidence produced by the Snyders fell short of this showing, it is instructive to review various cases that have addressed the issue. The courts in those cases rejected claims of treaty-tribe status based on evidence that was far more extensive and robust than the Snyders' anecdotes.

<u>Duwamish claim</u>. The Duwamish Tribe "is composed primarily of persons who are descendants in some degree of Indians who in 1855 were known as Dwamish Indians and who were party to the Treaty of Point Elliott, 12 Stat. 927." *United States v. Washington*, 476 F.Supp. 1101. Dwamish were named in the treaty with four signatories including Seattle, "who signed as chief of the Dwamish and Suquamish." *Id.* Many Dwamish moved to reservations and their descendants were members of those treaty-status tribes. *Id.* The entity called "Duwamish Tribe" failed to show treaty-tribe status. The facts that were relevant to the ultimate finding that the modern group had not functioned since treaty times as continuous separate, distinct and cohesive Indian cultural or political community included:

- The Duwamish Tribe "exercises no attributes of sovereignty over its members or any territory"
- "None of its organizational structure, governing documents, membership requirements or membership roll has been approved or recognized by the Congress or the Department of the Interior for purposes of administration of Indian affairs."
- It only allegedly had "a constitution and bylaws and purports to operate as an identifiable and distinct entity on behalf of its members" and it had "no current roll approved by the tribe[.]"
 United States v. Washington, 476 F. Supp. 1101, 1105. Based on these facts, the group "and their ancestors do not and have not lived as a continuous separate, distinct and cohesive Indian cultural or political community." Id. And, the "[p]resent members have no

common bond of residence or association other than such association as is attributable to the fact of their voluntary affiliation with the" group.

Samish Claim. The Samish Tribe included "persons who are descendants in some degree of Indians who in 1855 were known as Samish Indians and who were party to the Treaty of Point Elliott." *Id.* The Samish claim failed because

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