FILED
Aug 12, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73893-3-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner,

v.

BRUCE M. SNYDER GREGG B. SNYDER Respondents.

On Motion for discretionary review from Skagit County Superior Court

The Honorable Dave Needy, Judge

RESPONDENT BRUCE SNYDER'S REPLY TO BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JESSICA FLEMING, #44274 C. WESLEY RICHARDS, #11946 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT, BRUCE SNYDER

> Skagit County Public Defender 121 Broadway Mount Vernon, WA 98273 (360) 336-9405

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

D. ARGUMENT

An appellate court reviewing a decision of a Superior Court, which in turn was reviewing a District Court decision, shall: "accept those factual determinations supported by substantial evidence in the record (1) which were expressly made by the court of limited jurisdiction, or (2) that may reasonably be inferred from the judgment of the court of limited jurisdiction." RALJ 9.1, *see State v. Ford*, 110 Wn. 2d 827, 755 P.2d 806 (1988). RALJ 9.1(a) states that a reviewing court is to determine if there were any errors of law in the lower court. *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn. App. 779, 786, 247 P.3d 782 (2011).

1. The decision of the Superior Court is in accordance with Washington case law.

The decision of the Superior Court relied upon, and is consistent with, the holding of the Washington Court of Appeals in *State v. Posenjak*, 127 Wn.App. 41, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005). The Court in *Posenjak* set forth the standards for an affirmative defense of treaty hunting rights:

To establish the affirmative defense, the defendant must show by a preponderance of the evidence (1) the existence of the treaty, (2) of which he is a beneficiary, and (3) that, as a matter of law, the treaty saves him from the operation and enforcement of the hunting laws and regulations.

Id. at 48.

To establish the second element of the defense, that a defendant is a beneficiary of a treaty, the defendant must prove he or she is a member of a tribe that was a signatory tribe to the treaty, or that the tribe is a successor in interest to a signatory tribe. *Id.* at 49.

To establish treaty rights as a signatory tribe, it must be shown (1) "it has maintained an 'organized tribal structure," which can be "shown by establishing that 'some defining characteristic of the original tribe persists in an evolving tribal community;" and (2) that "a group of citizens of Indian ancestry is descended from a treaty signatory." *Id*. (Citations omitted.)

To establish treaty rights as a successor in interest to a signatory tribe, the successor tribe "must trace a continuous and defining political or cultural characteristic to the entity that was granted the treaty rights." *Id.* (Citations omitted.)

The Superior Court applied these standards from *Posenjak* to determine the affirmative defense of tribal hunting rights had been proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

In *Posenjak*, the Court only held the defendant in that case, Mr. *Posenjak*, failed to prove the defense, stating, "[B]ased on the evidence presented at trial, Mr. Posenjak does not have any treaty rights under the Point Elliot Treaty." *Id.* at 50. This is unsurprising given the lack of evidence before the trial court in Mr. Posenjak's case. Only one witness was called, Mr. Posenjak's brother, who testified his grandfather told him "where the elk were," and that his grandfather was on the "Robin Rolls." *Id.* at 47. No other evidence was presented; not even a copy of the Point Elliott treaty was admitted at trial.

Mr. Posenjak failed to present evidence that the Snoqualmoo Tribe maintained an organized tribal structure, that some defining characteristic of the original tribe persists in an evolving tribal community, and failed to

provide evidence of a continuous and defining political or cultural characteristic to the entity that was granted the treaty rights.

The State cites *Posenjak* and federal cases such as *US v*. *Washington* for the proposition that an affirmative defense of treaty rights cannot be asserted by a member of a tribe that has not been recognized by the federal government. *Appellant's Brief*, 36. There is no language in *Posenjak*, *Washington*, or other case law cited by the State, to support this assertion.

The Skagit County District Court and the State maintain members of a tribe may only assert an affirmative defense of treaty hunting rights if a federal court has recognized the Tribe has treaty rights. It is this position that is in conflict with established State case law from Division I of the Court of Appeals. In *State v. Courville*, 36 Wn.App. 615, 676 P.2d 1011 (1983), the defendants were charged in Federal Way District Court with possessing shellfish in excess of state limits. The defendants raised an affirmative defense of treaty shellfish rights. The District Court dismissed the charges based on the affirmative defense. On RALJ appeal, the King County Superior Court reversed, holding before a tribal member may assert an affirmative defense of treaty rights, a preliminary determination of such rights must be made in federal court.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court, holding:

[T]reaty fisherman may raise a treaty defense when charged with unlawful possession of shellfish even though their tribe has not received a preliminary determination of such right in federal court and adopted and filed with the court shellfish regulations... That prior adjudication of a treaty right is not a prerequisite to the assertion of a treaty defense is further evident by the fact that the treaties are self-enforcing and become obligatory on the parties when ratified. Therefore, the Superior Court erred in holding that absent a prior adjudication of the right to take shellfish, the defendants are barred from asserting a treaty right to take shellfish as an affirmative defense to state criminal charges of taking shellfish in excess of state limits."

Id. at 621-22 (Citations omitted).

2. The Superior Court's decision did not create a new path to establishing treaty rights.

The decision of the Superior Court has no precedential value. The Court in *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn.App. 78, 87, 160 P. 3d 1050 (2007), said, "[T]he findings of fact and conclusions of law of a superior court are not legal authority and have no precedential value." The decision of the Superior Court does not confer any treaty rights on the Snoqualmoo Tribe or its members. The decision of the Superior Court only resolves the issue of the affirmative defense of tribal hunting rights in this particular case. Similarly, when a district court had found the Snoqualmoo Tribe was a successor tribe, the finding had no precedential effect. *Posenjak*, 127

Wn.App. 41, 50, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005). The decision of the Superior Court will not prevent the State from prosecuting individuals, including Mr. Snyder, who the State believes are not entitled to hunt pursuant to treaty hunting rights.

State v. Buchanan, cited at page 36 of the State's brief, 138 Wn.2d 186, 978 P.2d 1070 (1999), does not stand for the proposition that tribal treaty status must be litigated in the "proper" forum before being raised as an affirmative defense. Buchanan involved a member of the Nooksack Tribe charged with hunting offenses. Counsel for Buchanan raised treaty rights not as an affirmative defense, but in a motion to dismiss. The Supreme Court determined the motion to dismiss should not have been granted, but stated Buchanan may assert treaty rights as an affirmative defense at trial-- precisely what Mr. Snyder did in this case. Buchanan, 138 Wn.2d 186, 978 P.2d 1070 (1999).

The decision of the Superior Court will not have any impact on other tribes. The Superior Court did not recognize the Snoqualmoo Tribe as a new treaty tribe. Rather, the Court only held an affirmative defense had been established in this particular criminal case. This case involved the taking of one elk pursuant to hunting regulations of the Snoqualmoo Tribe. Here, the record contains no evidence regarding the frequency of

alleged Snoqualmoo-related hunting violations or their impact on the State's elk resources.

a. The Superior Court adhered to the appropriate standard of review and applied the appropriate legal standards.

The Superior Court's decision was based upon its determination that the District Court committed an error of law by holding only members of federally recognized tribes may assert treaty hunting rights as an affirmative defense, and its determination that the uncontroverted evidence established the affirmative defense. The District Court made no factual determinations, expressly or inferentially, regarding the weight of the evidence or the credibility of witnesses with regard to the affirmative defense. Rather, the District Court made an erroneous legal determination that members of the Snoqualmoo Tribe cannot establish a defense of tribal hunting rights because the Tribe is not one of nine federally recognized tribes. RPII 18.

b. Mr. Snyder established the affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence.

The uncontroverted evidence at trial established the affirmative defense. Specifically: the Snoqualmoo Tribe was a signatory tribe to the Point Elliott Treaty, RP 50-51, 118, 135; Mr. Snyder is a member of the

Tribe based upon descent, RP 51, 96; the Snoqualmoo Tribe has been continuously in existence since the Treaty was signed, RP 100, 115; the Tribe has regular meetings, RP 45, 96; the Tribe carries on some of the same traditions as the original Snoqualmoo Tribe, including growing the same potatoes on the same "span," conducting the same burial ceremonies, and conducting the same naming ceremonies, RP 115, 116-117, 135.

Treaty rights are an affirmative defense which must be pled and proved by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence. To establish the defense, it must be shown by a preponderance that: (1) a treaty exists, (2) of which the defendant is a beneficiary, and (3) "that, as a matter of law, the treaty saves him from the operation and enforcement of hunting laws and regulations". *State v. Posenjak*, 127 Wn. App. 41, 48, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005).

In *Posenjak*, the Court of Appeals provided what amounts to two separate paths to establishing the affirmative defense of treaty rights: one standard that must be met for Indians asserting treaty rights as direct beneficiaries of a treaty, and a second for Indians asserting their tribe has treaty rights as a successor in interest to a signatory tribe. By either standard, the testimony at trial was sufficient to establish the affirmative defense of treaty rights. The State argues that a reference to "tribal lands"

in Judge Needy's Order on RALJ appeal somehow invalidates his legal reasoning. *Order on RALJ Appeal*, at ¶ 5. The State asserts there are no Snoqualmoo tribal lands, but there is no basis in the record for this assertion. Additionally, neither path to establishing the affirmative defense of treaty rights requires a factual finding regarding the existence of tribal lands.

1. Mr. Snyder established the Snoqualmoo tribe has maintained a tribal structure and common descendance from a treaty signatory.

For a tribe asserting treaty rights directly, as a signatory tribe, *Posenjak* held:

"Indians later asserting treaty rights must establish that their group has preserved its tribal status... First, it must show that it has maintained an organized tribal structure. This can be "shown by establishing that 'some defining characteristic of the original tribe persists in an evolving tribal community." Id. (quoting *Washington II*, 641 F.2d at 1372-73). Second, it must show that "a group of citizens of Indian ancestry is descended from a treaty signatory." *Washington I*, 520 F.2d at 693."

State v. Posenjak, 127 Wn. App. 41, 49, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005).

Mr. Posenjak, a member of the Snoqualmoo tribe, asserted treaty rights as an affirmative defense to a charge of unlawful hunting of big game in the 2nd degree after he killed an elk in

Kittitas County. The only witness called by the defense was Mr. Posenjak's brother who testified that his grandfather had told him "where the elk were" and that his grandfather was on a list of Indians called the "Robin Rolls." *Id* at 47. Ultimately, the Court found that Mr. Posenjak "failed to establish" that he was a member of a signatory tribe. *Id* at 49. Given the lack of evidence presented at trial in support of his contention, the Court's conclusion is not surprising.

The evidence before the trial court in this case, however, was substantially greater. The treaty itself was admitted as an exhibit at trial. It clearly shows representatives of the Snoqualmoo Tribe, including its Chief, signed the Treaty of Point Elliott.

Additionally, three members and officials of the Tribe testified as to the group's organized tribal structure, including regular meetings and elections. Mr. Sandstrom testified regarding the continuity of the Tribe's defining characteristics in naming and burial ceremonies as well as cultivation of potatoes grown by the Snoqualmoo people from the same span since the 1800s. RP 115, 116-117, 135. Finally, the testimony of Ms. Surduik, Mr. Sandstrom, and the Snyders that they are a group of people directly descended from Indians who signed the Treaty of Point Elliott

stands uncontroverted. This uncontroverted testimony was sufficient to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Bruce Snyder is a member of a signatory tribe to the Treaty of Point Elliott, which grants him tribal hunting rights that bar application of State hunting laws against him.

2. The Snoqualmoo trace a continuous and defining political or cultural characteristic to the entity that was granted the treaty rights.

A tribal member asserting treaty rights as a successor tribe bears the burden of establishing successorship. To do this, more than common ancestry is required. Rather, the tribe must show that it has maintained "a continuous and defining political or cultural characteristic to the entity that was granted the treaty rights." *State v. Posenjak*, 127 Wn. App. 41, 49, 111 P.3d 1206 (2005) (internal citations omitted).

During trial there was somewhat confusing testimony about a rift in the Snoqualmie Tribe in the 1980s that resulted in some members of Snoqualmie becoming members of the Snoqualmoo nation. RP 55 et seq. This does not mean that the Snoqualmoo Tribe did not exist before that time-- the signatory

designations on the Treaty of Point Elliott establish that, as does Mr. Sandstrom's testimony that he has been a member of the Snoqualmoo Tribe his entire life and was never a member of the Snoqualmie tribe. RP 114. Evidence as outlined above was presented at trial to establish the Snoqualmoo Tribe today is entitled to the treaty rights that were bestowed on the Snoqualmoo who signed the Treaty of Point Elliott. However, if this Court is not persuaded the Snoqualmoo tribe is a signatory tribe, there is sufficient evidence to prove by a preponderance of the evidence it is a successor to a signatory tribe. In addition to the substantial uncontroverted testimony regarding Mr. Snyder's descendance from a signatory to the Treaty of Point Elliott, testimony was presented at trial that the Snoqualmoo have retained traditional ceremonies and grown the same strain of crops that were practiced by their ancestors. RP 49-51, 79-80, 98-99, 115-117, 135-136.

In its brief, the State argues that Mr. Snyder's trial counsel acknowledged and Judge Needy of the Superior Court indicated the Snoqualmoo Tribe is a recent phenomenon, or at least not a continuous one. The trial testimony outlined above contradicts that assertion and stood uncontroverted at trial.

Additionally, the State's citations to the record in support of this

point are mischaracterizations. Trial counsel for Mr. Snyder, Geoff McCann, in his closing discussed how the historical Snoqualmoo Tribe operated and the relationship between the families of the Tribe. *Trial Transcript*, p. 12, lines 22-24. Perhaps inelegantly phrased, Mr. McCann's statements were clearly intended to educate the Court as to how the Tribe was formed and functioned, rather than a refutation of the existence of the Tribe. Judge Needy is misquoted in the State's brief. Judge Needy stated: "It's also uncontested that at least in the last twenty to thirty years, the Snoqualmoo have been reorganized, if you will, or actively participating as a Tribe or group..." RP 22, 11. 9-12 Proceedings of May 28, 2015. This statement by its plain terms does not suggest the Snoqualmoo ever ceased to exist as an entity, but rather refers to an evolution of the way the Tribe conducts itself.

At trial and in its pre-trial motion in limine, the State relied upon several cases to support its contention that the law has already decided the question of whether the Snoqualmoo Tribe possesses treaty rights under the Point Elliott Treaty. The State mentions the *United States v. Washington* cases. The more recent of the two cases was decided by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in 1984. This case dealt with the geographic delineation of "usual"

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